



SPICe Briefing Pàipear-ullachaidh SPICe

Expert views on green recovery from COVID-19, and alignment with Scottish Government plans

Darrick Evensen; Manuela de Mendonca; Haley Waites

This briefing explores the concept of a 'green recovery' from COVID-19, and presents a review of related academic articles and reports published between April and September 2020. It then analyses the extent to which themes in academic studies correspond with the Scottish Government's Programme for Government 2020-2021, and its Economic Recovery Implementation Plan.

> **15 December 2020** SB 20-85

Contents

Executive Summary	3
About the Author	5
Background	6
Introduction	6
Recovery and transition	8
Recovery from COVID-19	8
Approaches in the European Union	9
How the research was undertaken	11
What the experts say about green recovery	12
Findings	12
Policy recommendations	12
Comparisons across recommended policies	15
Approaches to implementing policies	16
Comparison of expert recommendations and Scottish Government proposals _	17
Conclusion	20
Annex - List of all sources analysed	21
Bibliography	24

Executive Summary

Green recovery seeks to achieve the dual aims of lifting an economy out of recession, and society out of a crisis, alongside protecting and improving the environment. This briefing sets out what selected experts consider to be appropriate approaches to a Green Recovery from COVID-19. The briefing draws on a review of academic articles and reports published between April and September 2020.

The concept of green recovery first emerged in academic research and political discourse after the 2008-2009 financial crisis. Several years of research on the impacts of green recovery policies employed through and after the 2008 recession have revealed that the green recoveries promised in many nations did not fully live up to expectations. Twelve years on, the context has changed - there is now a very different degree of understanding of environmental problems and solutions, and awareness of both climate and biodiversity challenges. For climate change especially, there is a visibility of climate impacts, higher level of societal ambition, more readiness for structural change, financial viability of new low-carbon technologies, and a shared global aspiration under the 2015 Paris Agreement

Within this changed context, there is a growing body of academic and other literature around the understanding that the climate and nature emergencies must be at the centre of recovery from COVID-19.

The briefing outlines an analysis of 20 academic journal articles, 16 academic reports, and 5 letters or reports from academic organisations or committees with advice specific to Scotland. These documents were reviewed alongside some academic research undertaken on effective green recovery policies. From this work sixteen key policies associated with a green recovery were selected as a lens through which to scrutinise the approach of the Scottish Government.

Nine green recovery policies were recommended in at least 40% of the documents in the sample. These are (in order of frequency of mention):

- 1. Renewable and low-carbon energy
- 2. Green infrastructure (general references)
- 3. Green infrastructure (transport)
- 4. Green infrastructure (buildings)
- 5. Restoring and improving natural capital (e.g., afforestation and peatlands)
- 6. Reskilling and retraining workers for green jobs
- 7. Short-term green jobs (0-5 years)
- 8. Conditional bailouts for carbon-intensive industries
- 9. Green research and development

The analysis also examined recommendations for implementing green recovery policies, and found that:

- The most prevalent recommendation was for a long-term policy focus (5+ years)..
- The second-most recommended approach was for a just transition to a low-carbon economy (i.e., accounting for fairness, equity and justice).

Understanding the frequency that a policy is recommended by academics and experts in the field points to areas of relative agreement on policies that are valuable in a green recovery, though it should be noted that it is only one measure of the value of a policy.

Overall, articles tended to focus more on climate change and carbon impact rather than on biodiversity loss, water quality and other environmental externalities.

There is broad correspondence between the policies most recommended by academic experts and those proposed by the Scottish Government in the Programme for Government 2020-2021.

In addition, the analysis identified the Scottish Government spend on each policy as set out in the 2020-21 Programme for Government.

The frequency with which policies are recommended by academics highlights only that this is an area that scholars agree should form part of a green recovery, but areas of high agreement are not necessarily the areas that require the most funding relative to other green recovery policies. Therefore a direct comparison between the frequency that a policy is mentioned and Scottish Government budgets is not straightforward. Nonetheless, the Scottish Government has, in general, allocated large amounts of funding to the same policies that are most frequently mentioned by scholars in the academic sample.

It must however be noted that this study only sets out Scottish Government spend relative to spend on other green recovery policies, not relative to total Scottish Government spend, and the success of these efforts also relies on the weight of these policies relative to other policies which may be classified as going against green recovery principles (e.g., road building, support of carbon-intensive industries and practices such as aviation). An analysis of this relativity is outwith the scope of this study; however it should be borne in mind when considering the Scottish Government's commitment to a Green Recovery.

Ten years of research on green recovery policies following the global financial crisis of 2008 broadly reveals that the policies were ineffective due to being too focused on very narrow sectors of the economy, allocating a relatively small percentage of GDP and of recovery funds to green recovery specifically, and not focusing enough on the long term.

The most frequently-mentioned policies in the reviewed literature appear to indicate that a broader approach to a green recovery is being taken in 2020. While the analysis in this briefing does not evaluate whether or not the Scottish Government's commitments and proposed spend are sufficient to bring about a green recovery, there appears to be a broader focus on a range of green recovery policies, as well as the commitment to a green recovery being "at the heart of" the Scottish Government's response ¹. Careful attention to the long-term transformation – not just short term recovery – will be essential, and opportunities for longer term (5+ years) planning can be undertaken through updates of longer-term strategies such as the Climate Change Plan.

About the Author

Dr Darrick Evensen is a lecturer in the School of Social and Political Science at the University of Edinburgh and a SPICe Fellow investigating a green recovery from COVID-19. This briefing is the final report from research undertaken by Dr Evensen as part of the fellowship along with research assistants Manuela de Mendonca and Haley Waites.

Background

In its broadest sense, green recovery seeks to achieve the dual aims of lifting an economy out of recession - and a society out of a crisis - whilst also protecting and improving the environment. For example, in traditional economic terms, economist Lord Nicholas Stern highlights that approaches to recovery which support environmental objectives are also good for the economy. He states ²:

" Well-designed recovery packages can boost aggregate demand and employment in the short term, boost productivity and competitiveness in the medium term, and bring about the transformation needed for inclusive, sustainable and resilient growth. ² "

The question of what a green recovery means for Scotland has also been explored in a recent inquiry in the Scottish Parliament's Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee, where stakeholders highlighted both traditional economic arguments for a green recovery, and that a green recovery is an opportunity to rethink traditional economic metrics like growth and GDP, in favour of a more nuanced view of economic, social and environmental prosperity.

The analysis in this briefing adds to the growing body of work on a green recovery from the pandemic by setting out what some experts consider to be appropriate policy approaches to a green recovery from COVID-19. It presents a systematic review of academic articles and reports published from April to September 2020.

Recommendations are set out alongside an analysis of the extent to which similar themes are reflected in the Scottish Government's Programme for Government 2020-2021 and its Economic Recovery Implementation Plan, to allow for comparison.

Introduction

Economists have long suggested engaging in some level of deficit spending - that is, public spending that exceeds public income - during a recession. When interest rates are low and the labour force is under-employed, deficit spending can inject cash into the economy, grow jobs, provide incentives for private investment, and raise consumer and investor confidence.

Green recovery aims for this type of invigoration of the economy to happen at the same time as achieving key environmental aims, including the mitigation of climate change causing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and tackling other environmental issues such as biodiversity loss ³. Indeed, proponents of green recovery maintain that such policies actually allow a society to recover in a more resilient and energised form , with green recovery policies leading to higher expected financial returns for the economy (both short-term and long-term) than recovery policies that focus on maintaining the status quo, or propping up environmentally damaging or carbon-intensive sectors of the economy ⁴.

Recent research from the Centre for Economics and Corporate Sustainability in Belgium has argued that ⁵ :

" The positive effect of decoupling [carbon emissions and economic growth] on GDP is even stronger during the pandemic than compared to the pre-COVID-19 period."

This is because of:

" [...] a targeted, investment-induced green transition towards low energy-intensive economic activities. [Therefore] the net effect on the government budget is positive through the indirect gains of the economic uptake."

An April 2020 Oxford University report, by authors including Lord Nicholas Stern (lead author of The Economics of Climate Change: The Stern Review) and Nobel Laureate Joseph Stiglitz (also a member of Scotland's Council of Economic Advisors), contends:

" progress on climate change will depend significantly on policy choices in the coming six months; the right choices could drive a long-term downward trend in GHG emissions."

Recovery and transition

Many who have studied the concept of a green recovery argue that for it to be successful, society must be allowed to bounce back (to come out of recession), but also to bounce forward (to emerge from the crisis in a new normal). Therefore, a green recovery must focus on short-term and long-term gains. Policies need to generate jobs and investment quickly, but also to shift the economy to new modes of operation and new technologies and/or industries that will sustain the economic boost in the long-term.

The concept of a green recovery first emerged in academic research and political discourse after the 2008-2009 financial crisis ⁶. Retrospectively, a narrow view of green recovery was widely considered to be a key failure of many policies implemented in response to that financial crisis. Policies were focused only on the short-term, and/or myopically centred on only energy efficiency and energy systems, rather than a more transformational focus on greening the wider economy ⁷.

There is some hope from academics that the lessons of the previous crisis can be avoided in responding to the current pandemic. For example a report co-authored by Professor Sebastian Oberthür (a leading environmental governance and climate policy scholar) from the Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy claims ⁸:

" while the COVID-19 pandemic has cast normal policy making including global climate policy into disarray, it also demonstrates that governments are able to take far-reaching action on short notice."

This was something that was echoed in the ECCLR Committee's green recovery report. The Committee noted that

" Scotland has shown it can be bold in the face of a crisis. It must be equally so in dealing with the climate and ecological crises and the challenge of ensuring a just transition. A bold and proportionate response in the public interest is necessary to deliver a truly green recovery for Scotland."

Scottish Parliament Environment Climate Change and Land Reform Committee, 2020⁹

Recovery from COVID-19

During the 2009 London Summit of G20 countries, the leaders of these states pledged 3 :

" to make the best possible use of investment funded by fiscal stimulus programmes towards the goal of building a resilient, sustainable, and green recovery."

Of the G20 countries' stimulus packages combined, about 16.8% of the total from this period, or 0.7% of their GDP, went towards "green stimulus" measures ⁴. In relation to total stimulus packages and total GDP of countries who had green recovery policies, relatively little was spent on green recovery ⁶. As stimulus packages were wound down and austerity measures put in place around 2010 in many G20 states, green recovery rhetoric was mostly abandoned ⁴.

Several years of subsequent research on the impacts of the green recovery policies

following the 2008 recession, and the current trajectory predicted for the climate crisis, have revealed that the green recoveries promised in many states did not fully live up to expectations ¹⁰. The initial momentum for a green recovery "did not amount to a concerted global green recovery effort" ⁴.

Scotland, and the world, is in a very different societal context than when green recovery was first discussed in and around 2008. The COVID-19 pandemic and governmental response to it has touched every aspect of modern life. Twelve years after the previous crisis, there is also a very different degree of awareness of climate and ecological problems, visibility of climate impacts, level of societal ambition, readiness for structural change, and financial viability of new low-carbon technologies.

Recent research in the journal Nature Climate Change models the climate impacts of the economic downturn due to the pandemic as well as projections based on green recovery policies. The research finds that the global lockdowns, and their reduced economic and industrial activity, will have negligible effects on global temperatures, but contends ¹¹:

" economic investment choices for the recovery will strongly affect the warming trajectory by mid-century. Pursuing a green stimulus recovery out of the post-COVID-19 economic crisis can set the world on track for keeping the long-term temperature goal of the Paris Agreement within sight."

A team from the French Economic Observatory at Sciences Po in Paris published research in Environmental and Resource Economics that modelled macroeconomic impacts of environmental and energy recovery policies. Similar to the research above, they assert ¹² :

"The severity of the global economic crisis induced by the COVID-19 pandemic might appear to support the postponement of ambitious climate mitigation. Our results directly contradict this idea, and support instead the strengthening of climate policies at a critical junction where mishandling of the post-COVID recovery could have dramatic consequences for GHG emissions mitigation efforts."

As such, there is a growing body of academic literature calling for an approach to the COVID-19 economic recovery that has the climate and nature emergencies at the centre.

Approaches in the European Union

The European Union was one of the first governmental entities this year to publish their long-term economic recovery policy to combat the looming economic crisis caused by the pandemic. Published in May, the policy, Europe's moment: Repair and Prepare for the Next Generation, included a revamped long-term budget with a €750 billion recovery instrument.

As stated throughout the document, the aim of this recovery policy is to accelerate Europe's twin green and digital transitions. Using the recovery instrument, the EU plans to use the funding to promote sustainable development and decarbonisation of their economies, to create a "fairer, greener, and more digital Europe". The European Green Deal will become the basis for this recovery, creating jobs and becoming "Europe's growth strategy" to help get their economies back on their feet. The Finance for Biodiversity Initiative, who track country progress in COVID-19 stimulus efforts, declared the EU's recovery policy, in comparison with other states, as "set to be the most green stimulus package to date" with "substantial and sustained positive impacts for the climate". ¹³

Some of the major policies the EU has said that it will be pursuing to achieve their green transition are summarised in Table 1 below:

Key EU policy areas associated with green recovery

Policy	Description		
Green Infrastructure Investment	Investments in green infrastructure as a form of short-term and long-term job creation.		
Clean Energy Transition	Promotion of decarbonization of the energy sector, clean hydrogen production, and offshore renewable energy.		
Funding the Recovery through ETS and new Instruments	To repay the funds raised for the recovery, the policy proposes using Europe's existing Emission Trading Scheme (ETS) and a Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism to reduce carbon leakage in the future.		
Just Transition	Increase in funding for the EU's Just Transition Fund, reskilling and retraining programs, and making sure the twin green and digital transitions leave no one behind.		
Research and Innovation Investment	Additional funding to Horizon Europe to fund research and innovation to drive shift towards clean, circular, and competitive climate neutral economy.		
Green Transport	Greening of transportation sector through promotion of sustainable vehicles and vessels, alternative fuels, and the installation of one million electric charging points.		
Circular Economy Investment	Funding for waste prevention, boosting recycling, and increasing use of secondary raw materials to reduce dependency on foreign supply chains and help transition to climate neutrality.		
Incentivizing Private Investment/Greening of Finance	Promoting private investment to aid green transition. Investments and businesses throughout Europe must also prioritize environmental and social interests.		
Biodiversity	Investments for the restoration and protection of biodiversity and natural ecosystems.		
Rural Development	Increase in funding for the European Fund for Agricultural Development, in recognition of the vital role farmers and rural areas will have in the green transition.		

How the research was undertaken

This systematic review includes analysis of a large sample of peer-reviewed academic articles and high-level academic reports on green recovery from COVID-19 (indexed in Google Scholar) published from 1 April 2020 through 15 September 2020. The first 100 returns from a Google Scholar search on 'COVID' (or 'coronavirus') and 'green recovery' were examined for whether they contained expert recommendations on green recovery. The final sample contained 20 academic journal articles and 16 reports by academic institutes. To complement the sample and allow for comparison with recommendations designed for Scotland, the sample was expanded to include five academic reports and letters from academic institutions on green recovery in Scotland specifically.

Academic research on effective green recovery policies and an initial review of all documents in the sample led to sixteen key policies associated with green recovery being selected as a lens through which to scrutinise the Scottish Government's approach; the policies are listed according to the prevalence with which they were advocated across the sample. Simple mention of a policy as being valuable for green recovery is not a perfect metric of its value, and not all academic papers and reports should necessarily be weighted equally (e.g., the Oxford report was the result of interviews with over 200 economists, but is a single document in this sample). Nevertheless, understanding the frequency with which different scholars recommend particular approaches to green recovery does point to areas of relative agreement on valuable policies.

Furthermore, each document in the sample was examined for whether it mentioned each policy as a minor focus (e.g., a paragraph or less focus on it), mentioned the policy as a major focus (e.g., it was the central focus of the document, or at least of an entire section), did not mention the policy at all, or mentioned the policy in a negative way (i.e., it was recommended against). No policy was referenced in a negative way by more than one of the 41 documents; therefore, that data is not discussed further here. The data below are presented on the policies most supported across the sample, both in terms of minor and major mentions. These policies are compared to the Scottish Government proposals in the 2020-21 Programme for Government and the Economic Recovery Implementation Plan. The sample is also analysed for whether experts from difference disciplines and different types of academic publications vary in their policy recommendations.

What the experts say about green recovery

Findings

This section discusses the analysis of experts' views, and then looks at the relationship between the experts' views and Scottish Government plans.

Policy recommendations

Nine green recovery policies were recommended in at least 40% of the documents in the sample. Examples below illustrating these policies come from documents analysed in this research. The nine policies most frequently mentioned by green recovery scholars are:

- **Renewable and low-carbon energy:** direct investment by government in low-carbon (mostly renewable) energy technologies, or specific targeted policies to incentivise private investment in such technologies.
- **Green infrastructure (generally):** this means any mention of "green infrastructure" that does not provide further details on the type of infrastructure recommended. For example, Professor Edward Barbier, economist and one of the most widely recognised scholars writing on green recovery for the last decade, states ¹⁰:

" If the aim is to transition from fossil fuels to a sustainable, low-carbon economy, then public spending should support private sector green innovation and target key infrastructure investments."

 Green infrastructure (transport): low-carbon infrastructure for transportation, such as walking, cycling, and public transport. For example, a report from environmental economists at the Centre for Climate and Energy Policy at the Australian National University states ¹⁴:

" Long-lived investments, such as in mass-transit systems, tend to have a larger effect on stimulating spending while reducing risk-averse saving."

- **Green infrastructure (buildings):** anything related to improving carbon efficiency of public or private buildings, such as retrofits and standards for new construction.
- Restoring / improving natural capital: such as afforestation (planting trees) or peatland restoration. For example, Professor Edward Barbier states ¹⁰:

"Natural climate solutions (NCS), such as reversing deforestation, reforestation, increasing soil carbon levels and enhancing wetlands, are increasingly considered cost-effective investments for mitigating greenhouse gas emissions from land use for temperate G20 economies as well. NCS can provide over one-third of the cost-effective climate mitigation needed by 2030 to stabilize warming to below 2°C [...]."

• **Reskilling and retraining workers:** especially, but not exclusively, helping workers in carbon-intensive industries transition to jobs in low-carbon or other green industries (e.g., moving from one energy sector to another). For example, researchers in the

Center for Policy Research at Syracuse University, assert ¹⁵:

" These data about the importance of green skills for the success of a green stimulus imply a role for job training in the transition to a green economy."

- **Short-term green jobs:** jobs occurring and ending within the next 0-5 years, such as in infrastructure development or natural capital restoration, that bring people back into the labour force, but are not long-lasting positions.
- Conditional bailouts for carbon-intensive industries: the claim that if carbon-intensive industries are to be given bailouts, conditions must be attached for them to become lower carbon in the future. The reference is always to carbon-intensity, but could also include reference to industries with additional environmental impacts (e.g., biodiversity or water quality impacts). For example, Dr Ben Caldecott, Director of the Sustainable Finance Programme in the University of Oxford's Smith School of Enterprise and the Environment, writes ¹⁶:

" If polluting incumbents are supported with debt and equity [via bailouts] without a focus on Transition Finance it will expose taxpayers and government balance sheets to the risk of stranded assets, as well as lock-in externalities that will make achieving the [UN] SDGs impossible."

• **Green research and development:** any investment in furthering research into lowcarbon solutions, particularly in the energy system and in areas that are novel or have not yet reached economic viability (e.g., CCS, hydrogen, wave/tidal, geothermal).

For example, scholars from the Beijer Institute of Ecological Economics at the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences write ¹⁷:

" Fiscal stimulus to private R&D spending in the renewable energy sector, by way of grants or loans, can prevent bankruptcies and the breaking up of successful R&D teams."

Table 2 sets out the percentage of documents recommending each of these nine policies.

Percentage of documents recommending each policy

Policy	Percentage of sample recommending
Renewable and low-carbon energy	83
Green infrastructure (generally)	68
Green infrastructure (transport systems)	66
Green infrastructure (building retrofits and renovation)	49
Restoring / improving natural capital (afforestation, land management)	46
Reskilling and retraining workers (transitioning to low-carbon jobs)	46
Short-term green jobs (0-5 years)	46
Conditional bailouts for carbon-intensive industries	46
Green research and development	41

Academic recommendations

Percentage of the sample recommending certain policies

83% Renewable and low-carbon energy
68% Green infrastructure (generally)
66% Green infrastructure (transport systems)
49% Green infrastructure (building retrofits and renovation)
46% Restoring / improving natural capital (afforestation, land management)
46% Reskilling and retraining workers (transitioning to low-carbon jobs)
46 % Short-term green jobs (0-5 years)
46% Conditional bailouts for carbon-intensive industries
41% Green research and development

In addition to the commonly recommended policies in Table 2, several additional policies were coded for that were mentioned in a smaller percentage of the documents:

- Green infrastructure for connectivity, such as digital and electrical grid infrastructure (37%)
- Taxes on fossil fuels (37%)
- Long-term green jobs, intended to last for 5+ years (32%)
- Remove fossil fuel subsidies (24%)
- Agricultural practices, such as those to retain soil carbon and to reduce carbon intensity (20%)
- Attention to waste management and the circular economy (20%)

As noted in the section on how the research was undertaken, simple mention of a policy as being valuable for green recovery is not a perfect metric of its value, and not all academic papers and reports should necessarily be weighted equally. Nevertheless, understanding the frequency with which different scholars recommend particular approaches to green recovery does point to areas of relative agreement on valuable policies. Less frequent mention in this case does not mean that there is disagreement on its value, but simply that it has received less attention in the literature.

Comparisons across recommended policies

The nine dominant policies break into two primary clusters – based on which policies are mentioned together as complementary approaches in the same documents in the sample.

- Mention of renewable and low-carbon energy significantly correlates with mention of green infrastructure (generally) and green infrastructure (transport), but not with the other policies.
- The second cluster of policies correlating with each other is: restoring natural capital, green building infrastructure, reskilling/retraining, short-term jobs, and green R&D.

Each group represents a selection of policies jointly recommended by multiple authors.

Conditional bailouts for carbon-intensive industries did not group with either set of policies; this may be because this was less of an active recommendation, but rather a caution to not bailout certain economic sectors unless conditions were attached for those sectors to significantly lower their greenhouse gas emissions in line with net-zero ambitions.

It is increasingly recognised that biodiversity loss and climate change are twin crises. Overall, articles tended to focus more on climate change and carbon impact rather than on biodiversity loss, water quality and other environmental externalities. The reasons for this are not clear; however it may be that just as GR policies in 2008 were narrowly focussed on energy systems and energy efficiency, the wider implications of the biodiversity crisis are not similarly embedded in academic or public discourse.

In addition to the percentage of documents recommending each policy, the percentage offering each policy as a major focus of the document offers insight into perceived relative importance of the recommendation. Renewable and low-carbon energy again had the highest percentage of articles offering this policy as a major focus (24%), with only two others policies being a major focus in over 10% of the sample: green infrastructure (generally) (12%) and taxes as a tool to fund GR policies, set strategic directions, and penalise carbon-intensive industries (20%). This last recommendation was only mentioned in 37% of the sample, but was a major focus in 20% – it included suggestions such as further taxes on fossil fuels that could then fund and send market signals to incentivise green investment.

Only two of the nine policies differed significantly in the percentage with which they were recommended in different types of documents. Restoring natural capital was recommended in 30% of peer-reviewed academic journal articles, but in 50% of academic reports (reports that are high-level and from academic institutes, but not published in a recognised peer-reviewed journal), and in 100% of Scotland-specific documents. Reskilling/retraining was recommended in 35% of academic journal articles, in 44% of academic reports, and in 100% of Scotland-specific documents.

These data reveal that in most instances (7 of 9 most recommended policies), the specific recommendations for Scotland did not diverge notably from general recommendations for green recovery more broadly. The universal mention of natural capital and reskilling/ retraining in Scotland-focused documents could point to the importance of peatland and forests specifically in Scotland, and the importance of a (just) transition away from jobs in a major carbon-intensive energy industry (oil and gas).

There were no clear trends of significant differences based on the month in which the

documents were published (April - September).

Finally, the only significant differences based on the academic discipline of the authors came for: renewable and low-carbon energy, which was recommended by 100% of economists, 67% of policy experts, 87% of interdisciplinary teams, and 56% from other disciplinary fields; and creating new taxes as a tool for funding the GR (75% economists, 33% policy experts, 20% interdisciplinary teams, 22% other fields). For the other seven policies, there was no significant variation in recommendations depending on the academic discipline of the researchers.

Approaches to implementing policies

In addition to investigating specific policies, this analysis examined the sample documents' recommended approaches to implementing green recovery policies. Ten approaches were explored. The most prevalent recommendation was for an approach that takes a long-term view (5+ years) to policies (71% of sample, with 27% discussing as a major focus). Short-term green recovery policies, allowing for quick recovery and quick returns on investment were also promoted (44%), but no documents emphasised short-term recovery as a major focus.

The second-most recommended approach was for a just transition to a low-carbon economy (i.e., accounting for fairness, equity, and distributive, procedural, and recognition justice) – mentioned in 61% of the sample (12% major focus).

All other approaches appeared in less than 40% of the sample:

- The need for government to incentivise behavioural and cultural change (39%)
- The need for international collaboration (39%)
- Incentivising private green investment (34%)
- Explicitly connecting green recovery to achievement of climate goals (32%)
- Transparency (e.g., in the relationship between science and policy) (27%)
- Supporting developing nations (24%)
- Explicit reference to taking on debt as a means for financing green recovery (12%)

Comparison of expert recommendations and Scottish Government proposals

There is a broad correspondence between the policies most recommended by academic experts and those proposed by the Scottish Government in the Programme for Government 2020-2021. Eight of the nine policies most commonly recommended by experts are mentioned to some extent by the Scottish Government.

As above, the second column outlines the percentage of the sample of academic literature recommending a particular policy. The third column sets out the amount of funding recommended for allocation to this same category of policies in the Scottish Government's Programme for Government 2020-2021, and the fourth column offers a qualitative assessment of the amount of focus afforded in that document to the topic (high, medium, or low – based on the amount of space dedicated to the topic and its integration with other topics).

Whilst the figures set out in the following table indicate that the Scottish Government's approach broadly aligns with academic thinking, the success of these efforts also relies on the weight of these policies relative to other policies which may be classified as going against green recovery principles (e.g., road building, support of carbon-intensive industries and practices such as aviation). An analysis of this relativity is outwith the scope of this study; however it should be borne in mind when considering the Scottish Government's commitment to a Green Recovery. The recently published Draft Infrastructure Investment Plan states that ¹⁸:

" Around 36% of the projects and programmes presented in this draft Plan are in the Low carbon category according to the current methodology."

This leaves 64% of interventions not in the low carbon category, which raises the question of whether those interventions are counteracting low-carbon policies or if their impact is neutral.

Table 3 - Experts' most strongly recommended policies for Green Recoveryinvestment, and their correspondence with proposed spending in ScottishGovernment's Programme for Government 2020-2021

Policy area	Percentage of sample recommending	Proposed Scottish Government funding (£m)	Relative focus on the topic
Renewable and low-carbon energy	83	1,062	High
Green infrastructure (generally)	68	2,132	High
Green infrastructure (transport systems)	66	1005	Medium
Green infrastructure (building retrofits and renovation)	49	1607	Medium
Restoring / improving natural capital (afforestation, land management)	46	338	Low
Reskilling and retraining workers (transitioning to low-carbon jobs)	46	25	Medium
Short-term green jobs (0-5 years)	46	100	High
Conditional bailouts for carbon-intensive industries	46	n/a	n/a
Green research and development	41	5	Low

It is essential to note that funding totals in Table 3 are given for existing and new commitments covering the next five years; the Programme for Government sometimes states 'the next five years' as the time frame and at other times uses 'the next parliamentary session' (2021-2026) as the time frame. Not included in the totals are any 2020-2021 commitments that do not explicitly state that these will continue into future years.

The **renewable and low-carbon energy** category includes half of £2 billion pledged for capitalisation of the Scottish National Investment Bank over the next ten years (the Programme for Government does not specifically note the amount of capitalisation to be provided each year, but notes the amount in 2020-2021 was £220 million). This is the only category to include capitalisation of a bank; all others reflect plans for direct investment. The **natural capital** category includes half (£125 million) of a ten-year commitment of £250 million for peatland restoration (to be allocated evenly across the ten years). The £25 million for **reskilling and retaining workers** refers to the National Training Transition Fund; no timeline is offered for this investment.

Scottish Programme for Government 2020-2021 funding recommendations over the next five years / next Parliament (2020-2026)



The frequency with which policies are recommended by academics highlights only that this is an area that scholars agree should form part of a green recovery, but areas of high agreement are not necessarily the areas that require the most funding relative to other green recovery policies. Therefore a direct comparison between the frequency that a policy is mentioned and Scottish Government budgets is not straightforward. Nonetheless, the Scottish Government has, in general, allocated large amounts of funding to the same policies that are most frequently mentioned by scholars in the academic sample.

One difference is that investment in green infrastructure is proposed to receive notably more than investment in renewable and low-carbon energy, although renewable energy is recommended in the highest proportion of the academic sample. Nevertheless, capitalisation of an investment bank is meant to incentivise and leverage private finance, which implies that the ultimate spend on renewable and low-carbon energy via all sources would be higher. Professor Edward Barbier has asserted ¹⁰:

" public spending should support private sector green innovation and target key infrastructure investments', which seems to align with the approach of most funding going to infrastructure and seeking to mobilise private sector involvement."

It must be reiterated here that percentage of documents recommending a policy is only one of many possible indicators of policy value. Although only 2% of the sample has a major focus on buildings (with 7% for transport), investment in buildings and transport were both recommended in 80% of the Scotland-specific documents.

The amount of funding proposed for the various policies in the Scottish Government's Economic Recovery Implementation Plan followed a broadly similar pattern to the proposals in the Programme for Government, save that the actual figures in the Programme for Government were substantially higher – especially in the areas of renewable and low carbon energy (\pounds 72 million vs over \pounds 1 billion), transport (\pounds 46 million vs \pounds 1 billion), and green infrastructure generally (\pounds 870 million vs \pounds 2.1 billion).

Most of the difference is likely attributable to the £2 billion fund of additional capital investment and £3 billion green investment portfolio identified in the Implementation Plan, but large portions of this is not being sub-allocated to specific policy areas. It must also be noted that the time scales for investment referenced in the two documents do not overlap entirely. Much of the investment announced in the Programme for Government is to be spent over the entire next Parliament (2021 - 2026), it also includes a degree of anticipated private sector investment.

The Scottish Government documents mention both short-term (0-5 years) and long-term (5+ years) policy goals. Specific policies and allocations of funding are envisioned in the near future as well as over ten year periods. The First Minister's introduction to the Programme for Government cites a long-term vision for different sectors of the economy and society. On balance, more policies speak to a short-term (0-5 years) time frame than a long-term vision. This is in some ways to be expected due to the nature of an annual Programme for Government and a Parliamentary session of 5 years.

The strong attention of the academic experts to policies that operate and generate effects over the long-term compared to the short-term is still worth emphasising. Indeed, the short-term focus of green recovery policies following the financial crisis was identified as a critical factor contributing to their ineffectiveness. Evidence provided by the UK Committee on Climate Change during the ECCLR Committee's green recovery inquiry also emphasised the importance of concentrating spend on recovery upfront to maximise its potential. Doing so builds a foundation for the long-term, by ambitious action in the immediate term.

Conclusion

The academic experts' most frequently recommended policies for green recovery from COVID-19 were renewable and low-carbon energy development, green infrastructure, green jobs, and furthering these goals through additional research. These same policies were reflected in Scottish Government's publications.

Ten years of research on green recovery policies following the global financial crisis of 2008 broadly reveals the policies were ineffective due to being too focused on very narrow sectors of the economy, allocating a relatively small percentage of GDP and of recovery funds to green recovery specifically, and not focusing enough on the long term. They were also shown to not have been effective due to ongoing and higher investment in high carbon policies, such as fossil fuel subsidies.

The most frequently-mentioned expert recommendations appear to indicate that a broader approach to a green recovery is being taken in 2020.

Such an approach was also recognised by the ECCLR Committee in their report following the green recovery inquiry. The Committee noted:

"We need to capture and lock in positive behaviours, front-load investment in the lowcarbon solutions we already know about and build resilience through valuing nature more in the recovery. [...] Underpinning this we need to focus on innovation, skills and jobs. Financial support in a green recovery must be conditional on delivering national outcomes – particularly around the climate and biodiversity emergencies. Conditionality must also apply to the public sector."

Scottish Parliament Environment Climate Change and Land Reform Committee, 20209

While the analysis in this briefing does not evaluate whether or not the Scottish Government's commitments and proposed spend are sufficient to bring about a green recovery, there appears to be a broader focus on a range of green recovery policies, as well as the commitment to a green recovery being "at the heart of" the Scottish Government's response ¹. Careful attention to the long-term transformation – not just short term recovery – will be essential, and opportunities for longer term (5+ years)

planning can be undertaken through updates of longer-term strategies such as the Climate Change Plan.

Annex - List of all sources analysed

Adams, K. M., Klein, R. J., Pulquério, M., Bachofen, C., Barrott, J., Bentz, J., ... & Lourenço, T. C. (2020). *Adapting to extremes:: Key insights for bridging climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction in the European Green Deal*. Platform for Climate Adaptation and Risk Reduction (PLACARD).

Advisory Group on Economic Recovery (Scotland) (2020). Towards a Robust, Resilient Wellbeing Economy for Scotland.

Agrawala, S., Dussaux, D., & Monti, N. (2020). What policies for greening the crisis response and economic recovery?: Lessons learned from past green stimulus measures and implications for the COVID-19 crisis. OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 164.

Allan, J., Donovan, C., Ekins, P., Gambhir, A., Hepburn, C., Robins, N., ... & Zenghelis, D. (2020). A net-zero emissions economic recovery from COVID-19. COP26 Universities Network Briefing, April.

Bailey, D. (2020). Greening the 'Green Shoots' of Recovery. Manchester Metropolitan University, Future economies research and policy paper #11.

Barbier, E. B. (2020). Greening the post-pandemic recovery in the G20. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76 (4), 685-703.

Belesova, K., Heymann, D. L., & Haines, A. (2020). Integrating climate action for health into covid-19 recovery plans. BMJ, 370.

Blondeel, M. (2020). COVID-19 and the Climate-Energy Nexus. Egmot Royal Institute for International Relations.

Budd, L., & Ison, S. (2020). Responsible Transport: A post-COVID agenda for transport policy and practice. Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives, 6, 100151.

Caldecott, B. (2020). Defining transition finance and embedding it in the post-Covid-19 recovery. Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment, 1-5.

Chen, Z., Marin, G., Popp, D., & Vona, F. (2020). Green Stimulus in a Post-pandemic Recovery: the Role of Skills for a Resilient Recovery. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 901-911.

Climate Action Tracker. (2020). A government roadmap for addressing the climate and post COVID-19 economic crises.

Climate Emergency Response Group (CERG) (2020). Eight policy packages for Scotland's Green Recovery.

Committee on Climate Change (CCC) (2020). Building a resilient recovery from the COVID-19 crisis. Letter to Roseanna Cunningham MSP.

Creel, J., Holzner, M., Saraceno, F., Watt, A., & Wittwer, J. (2020). How to Spend it: A Proposal for a European Covid-19 Recovery Programme (No. 38). The Vienna Institute for International Economic Studies, wiiw.

Elliott, R. J., Schumacher, I., & Withagen, C. (2020). Suggestions for a Covid-19 postpandemic research agenda in environmental economics. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 1187-1213.

Engström, G., Gars, J., Jaakkola, N., Lindahl, T., Spiro, D., & van Benthem, A. A. (2020). What Policies Address Both the Coronavirus Crisis and the Climate Crisis?. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 789-810.

Fargher, S. and Hallegatte, S. (2020). Best investments for an economic recovery from Coronavirus. World Bank Group.

Forster, P. M., Forster, H. I., Evans, M. J., Gidden, M. J., Jones, C. D., Keller, C. A., ... & Schleussner, C. F. (2020). Current and future global climate impacts resulting from COVID-19. Nature Climate Change, 1-7.

Glachant, J. M. (2020). Greening the Covid-19 recovery in the European Union. European University Institute.

Hanna, R., Xu, Y., & Victor, D. G. (2020). After COVID-19, green investment must deliver jobs to get political traction. Nature, 582, 178-180.

Hepburn, C., O'Callaghan, B., Stern, N., Stiglitz, J., & Zenghelis, D. (2020). Will COVID-19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change?. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 36.

Howarth, C., Bryant, P., Corner, A., Fankhauser, S., Gouldson, A., Whitmarsh, L., & Willis, R. (2020). Building a social mandate for climate action: lessons from COVID-19. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76 (4), 1107-1115.

International Monetary Fund (2020). Special Series on Fiscal Policies to Respond to COVID-19. IMF Fiscal Affairs.

Ing, J., & Nicolaï, J. P. (2020). Perspectives on the Economics of the Environment in the Shadow of Coronavirus. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 447-517.

Jotzo, F., Longden, T., & Anjum, Z. (2020). Fiscal stimulus for low-carbon compatible COVID-19 recovery: criteria for infrastructure investment CCEP Working Paper 2005 June 2020.

Just Transition Commission (Scotland) (2020). Advice for a Green Recovey.

Kattami, C. (2020). The Future is Green, Digital and Social: Europe's new growth model and its Recovery Plan. Hellenic Foundation for European and Foreign Policy.

Klenert, D., Funke, F., Mattauch, L., & O'Callaghan, B. (2020). Five lessons from COVID-19 for advancing climate change mitigation. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76 (4), 751-778.

Kuzemko, C., Bradshaw, M., Bridge, G., Goldthau, A., Jewell, J., Overland, I., ... & Westphal, K. (2020). Covid-19 and the politics of sustainable energy transitions. *Energy research & social science*, *68*, 101685.

Lahcen, B., Brusselaers, J., Vrancken, K., Dams, Y., Paes, C. D. S., Eyckmans, J., & Rousseau, S. (2020). Green recovery policies for the COVID-19 crisis: modelling the Impact on the economy and greenhouse gas emissions. Environmental and Resource

Economics, 76 (4), 731-750.

Lidskog, R., Elander, I., & Standring, A. (2020). COVID-19, the climate, and transformative change: Comparing the social anatomies of crises and their regulatory responses. Sustainability, 12(16), 6337.

Malliet, P., Reynès, F., Landa, G., Hamdi-Cherif, M., & Saussay, A. (2020). Assessing short-term and long-term economic and environmental effects of the COVID-19 crisis in France. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 867-883.

Meles, T. H., Ryan, L., & Wheatley, J. (2020). COVID-19 and EU Climate Targets: Can We Now Go Further?. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 76(4), 779-787.

Mukanjari, S., & Sterner, T. (2020). Charting a "Green Path" for Recovery from COVID-19. Environmental and Resource Economics, 76(4), 825-853.

Obergassel, W., Hermwille, L., & Oberthür, S. Harnessing International Climate Governance to Drive Green Post-Pandemic Recovery. Wuppertal Institut.

Pons, G., Borchers-Gasnier, M. A., & Leturcq, P. (2020). Greener After: A Green Recovery for a Post-COVID-19 World. SAIS Review of International Affairs, 40(1), 69-79.

Thorpe, D. (2020). How investing in the green economy is the best way to post-Covid-19 economic recovery. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers-Civil Engineering (Vol. 173, No. 3, p. 100).

UN DESA. Forests: at the heart of a green recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. Policy Brief No. 80.

Zakeri, B., Barreto-Gomez, L., Boza-Kiss, B., Gomez Echeverri, L., Fritz, S., Gielen, D., ... & Srivastava, L. (2020). Bouncing Forward Sustainably: Pathways to a post-COVID world. Sustainable Energy. International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis.

Zero Waste Scotland. (2020). Building Back Better: Principles for sustainable resource use in a wellbeing economy.

Bibliography

- Scottish Government. (2020, September 1). Protecting Scotland, Renewing Scotland: The Government's Programme for Scotland 2020-2021. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/ publications/protecting-scotland-renewing-scotland-governments-programmescotland-2020-2021/ [accessed 11 December 2020]
- Bhattacharya, A., & Stern, N. (2020, May 22). From rescue to recovery, to transformation and growth: building a better world after COVID-19. Retrieved from http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/ 104540/ [accessed 18 November 2020]
- ³ Tienhaara, K. (2016, June 16). Governing the Global Green Economy. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1758-5899.12344 [accessed 18 November 2020]
- ⁴ Barbier, E. (2010, April). Green Stimulus, Green Recovery and Global Imbalances. Retrieved from https://ideas.repec.org/a/wej/wldecn/420.html [accessed 18 November 2020]
- ⁵ Lahcen, B., Brusselaers, J., & Vrancken, K. (2020, July 13). Green Recovery Policies for the COVID-19 Crisis: Modelling the Impact on the Economy and Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10640-020-00454-9 [accessed 18 November 2020]
- ⁶ Barbier, E. (2015, July). Are There Limits to Green Growth?. Retrieved from https://ideas.repec.org/a/wej/wldecn/622.html [accessed 19 November 2020]
- 7 Aglietta, M., Behrens, A., & Colijn, B. (2012). Green Growth. Retrieved from https://www.intereconomics.eu/contents/year/2012/number/3/article/green-growth.html [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ⁸ Obergassel, W., Hermwille, L., & Oberthür, S. (2020, July). Harnessing International Climate Governance to Drive Green Post-Pandemic Recovery. Retrieved from https://www.ies.be/policy-brief/harnessing-international-climate-governance-drive-greenpost-pandemic-recovery [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ⁹ Scottish Parliament Environment Climate Change and Land Reform Committee. (2020, November 8). Green Recovery Inquiry - Report. Retrieved from https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Environment/Reports/ECCLRS0520R12.pdf [accessed 11 December 2020]
- ¹⁰ Barbier, E. (2020, June 15). Greening the Post-pandemic Recovery in the G20. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10640-020-00437-w [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ¹¹ Forster, P., Forster, H., & Evans, M. (2020, August 7). Current and future global climate impacts resulting from COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/ s41558-020-0883-0. [accessed 19 November 2020]

- Malliet, P., Reynès, F., & Landa, G. (2020, August 4). Assessing Short-Term and Long-Term Economic and Environmental Effects of the COVID-19 Crisis in France. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10640-020-00488-z [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ¹³ Vivid Economics. (2020, June 3). Green Stimulus Index. Retrieved from https://www.vivideconomics.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/200605-Green-Stimulus-Index-1.pdf [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ¹⁴ Jotzo, F., Longden, T., & Anjum, Z. (2020, June). Fiscal stimulus for low-carbon compatible COVID-19 recovery: criteria for infrastructure investment. Retrieved from https://www.energy-transition-hub.org/files/resource/attachment/ccep2005_lowcarbon_stimulus_-_jotzo_longden_anjum.pdf [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ¹⁵ Chen, Z., Marin, G., & Vona , F. (2020, August). Green Stimulus in a Post-pandemic Recovery: the Role of Skills for a Resilient Recovery. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/ s10640-020-00464-7?wt_mc=Internal.Event.1.SEM.ArticleAuthorOnlineFirst [accessed 3 December 2020]
- ¹⁶ Caldecott, B. (2020, September 2). Defining transition finance and embedding it in the post-Covid-19 recovery. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/ 20430795.2020.1813478 [accessed 19 November 2020]
- ¹⁷ Creel, J., Holzner, M., & Saraceno, F. (2020, June). How to Spend it: A Proposal for a European Covid-19 Recovery Programme. Retrieved from https://wiiw.ac.at/how-to-spendit-a-proposal-for-a-european-covid-19-recovery-programme-dlp-5352.pdf [accessed 3 December 2020]
- Scottish Government. (2020, September 24). A National Mission with Local Impact draft infrastructure investment plan 2021-2022 to 2025-2026: consultation. Retrieved from https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-mission-local-impact-draft-infrastructureinvestment-plan-scotland-202122-202526/ [accessed 23 November 2020]

Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe) Briefings are compiled for the benefit of the Members of the Parliament and their personal staff. Authors are available to discuss the contents of these papers with MSPs and their staff who should contact Alasdair Reid on telephone number 85375 or alasdair.reid@parliament.scot, Anna Brand on telephone number 85379 or Anna.Brand@Parliament.scot.

Members of the public or external organisations may comment on this briefing by emailing us at SPICe@parliament.scot. However, researchers are unable to enter into personal discussion in relation to SPICe Briefing Papers. If you have any general questions about the work of the Parliament you can email the Parliament's Public Information Service at sp.info@parliament.scot. Every effort is made to ensure that the information contained in SPICe briefings is correct at the time of publication. Readers should be aware however that briefings are not necessarily updated or otherwise amended to reflect subsequent changes.